

**2012 INTERAGENCY AUTISM COORDINATING COMMITTEE
STRATEGIC PLAN UPDATE: QUESTION 4
WHICH TREATMENTS AND INTERVENTIONS WILL HELP?**

WHAT IS NEW IN THIS RESEARCH AREA, AND WHAT HAVE WE LEARNED IN THE PAST 18 MONTHS?

While treatment development is still early in ASD, the past 18 months has witnessed several new findings on potentially efficacious interventions for children and adults with ASD:

Early behavioral intervention

Evidence for the benefits of early intervention continues to mount, with researchers now focusing on testing interventions for infants and toddlers, identifying “active ingredients” and dissemination of these interventions to community settings. A toddler RCT testing the efficacy of the Hanen intervention found that toddlers with poorer play skills benefited most (Carter et al., 2011). Early intensive intervention with toddlers was found to result in improvements in both social behavior and neural responses to social stimuli (Dawson et al., 2012). A 12-week, parent-delivered intervention resulted in similar child gains as standard community interventions involving more therapy hours (Rogers et al., 2012). A longitudinal follow up of a targeted joint attention intervention (Kasari et al., 2012) found that joint attention and play are important targets for enhancing language acquisition (and that these functional gains may persist over the long term). Finally, positive results of implementation of targeted interventions to community settings were reported (Kaale et al., 2012; Lawton and Kasari, 2012).

Behavioral and psychosocial interventions for school age children and adults

There is a general paucity of research on interventions with adolescents and adults, as underscored in two 2012 systematic reviews (Lounds et al., 2012; Taylor et al., 2012). These reviews noted that evidence-based approaches to support transition to adulthood and employment are particularly lacking. Although the evidence base for behavioral interventions in older children and adults is less-well developed than early intervention, new research points to a number of promising efficacious interventions. A RCT of a brief social skill intervention documented improvements in peer relationships in the classroom which persisted over time (Kasari et al., 2012). Building on earlier findings, studies showed that CBT and social skills training can be useful for decreasing anxiety in high functioning ASD and effects can be long lasting (Antshel et al., 2011; Reaven et al., 2012). Social skills training may also have positive effects on core social symptoms (DeRosier et al., 2011). One study found that mindfulness based therapy was efficacious for reducing anxiety, depression, and rumination (Spek et al., 2012).

Medications

A 2011 National Academy of Sciences report on Precision Medicine is changing the culture of treatment development (National Research Council, 2011). Noting that most common diseases may contain many rare syndromes requiring different treatments, precision medicine argues for developing treatments based on more precise diagnostics, defined by biomarkers. In an exciting example of this approach, which could serve as a model for ASD, in 2012 the FDA approved

Ivacaftor for cystic fibrosis, a breakthrough medication specifically for the 4% of cystic fibrosis with a G551D mutation.

A systematic review of medications for adolescents and young adults with ASD concluded that there is moderate evidence to support efficacy of antipsychotic medication for treating irritability, but there is also strong evidence of its adverse side effects, including sedation and weight gain (Dove et al., 2012). Scahill et al. (2012) reported that the combined effects of risperidone and parent training were more positive than medication alone for improving adaptive behavior. Hardan et al. (2012) reported potential usefulness of N-acetylcysteine, a glutamate modulator, for treating irritability. SSRIs for reducing repetitive behaviors may have age-associated or intrinsic class associated drug effects (Hollander et al., 2012; Scahill, 2012). No uniform guidance has emerged. Levetiracetam reduced interictal epileptiform discharges (IEDs) (Larsson, 2012), but the clinical significance is unclear.

Investigators are also beginning to actively link genetic tendencies with drug effects (both therapeutic as well as side effects, such as weight gain with risperidone) (Adkins et al., 2011; Correia et al., 2010). This area of research has been termed “pharmacogenomics,” and its goal is to both define biomarkers of drug responsiveness within the ASD cohort, as well as identifying those who may be most prone to adverse effects.

At least twelve medication trials (Phase 1 – Phase 4) have been launched for the core domains of ASD or neurodevelopmental disorders associated with ASD, such as fragile X. A Phase 2 RCT of Arbaclofen with children and adults with fragile X (Berry-Kravis et al., 2012) showed positive effects for reducing social avoidance. At least 10 trials of the pro-social neuropeptide oxytocin are underway or recently completed in children and adolescents with ASD (www.clinicaltrials.gov).

Treatment of co-occurring medical conditions continues to be an important area of study. A *Pediatrics* supplement (2012) based on the work of the Autism Intervention Research Network on Physical Health and the Autism Speaks Autism Treatment Network provided empirically-based physician guidelines for management of GI, sleep, and ADHD, as well as descriptive information on the prevalence and nature of a wide range of co-occurring medical conditions. Studies showed that melatonin is useful for treating insomnia in ASD (Malow et al., 2012) and that controlled-release melatonin with CBT may be useful for treating night awakening (Cortesi et al., 2012). An open label trial of donepezil was found to increase rapid eye movement (REM) sleep and decrease REM latency (Buckley et al., 2011).

Other

A meta-analysis (Sowa & Meulenbroek, 2012) concluded that exercise is beneficial for social skills and motor performance for people with ASD, with individual interventions more effective than group interventions. A RCT found a movement-based yoga, dance, and music therapy program was effective for improving behavior (Rosenblatt et al., 2011). A 12-week RCT of Repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (rTMS) in high-functioning individuals with ASD resulted in improved error-related negativity (a proxy measure of executive functioning) and improved error monitoring and correction (Sokhadze et al., 2012).

Comment [A1]: Discussion Point: This is very early – consider leaving this part out since this has really not advanced enough.

Comment [A2]: Discussion Point: Should this be Phase 1-Phase 2 or Phase 1-Phase 4? Are there Phase 3 trials other than risperidone or other post-marketing trials? If there are some in the pipeline and not yet published, is there a way to access the results?

Comment [A3]: Discussion Point: This is also in Question 2. Should we keep it in both places?

WHAT GAPS HAVE EMERGED IN THE PAST 18 MONTHS?

Although some helpful interventions for ASD have been identified, we lack a precision medicine approach: specifically, we do not have biomarkers or clinical features to indicate which interventions are helpful for whom. Trial designs need to be improved by including larger, more diverse samples (e.g., greater ethnic diversity, more non-verbal and lower functioning individuals), examination of the length and intensity of interventions, objective/physiologic measures of autonomic response or physical activity, and maintenance and generalization measures tested in authentic environments. We need to develop more sensitive outcome measures and biomarkers, so that clinical trials may identify mediators and moderators of treatment response. Thus, better characterization of biomarkers and endophenotypes may aid in the development of customized, targeted interventions.

Understanding the pathophysiology of ASD will be paramount in the quest for new treatments and delineating the mechanisms behind treatment response. The effect of co-occurring disorders on ASD (and vice versa) is unclear and needs to be better defined. We need to determine if co-occurring conditions such as anxiety and depression involve similar mechanisms in individuals with ASD as they do in typically developing individuals. It is possible that anxiety and/or affective disorders stem from core neurodevelopmental disorders; alternatively, these co-occurring conditions may actually represent reactive compensatory mechanisms in those with ASD. Treatments for co-occurring conditions may be less effective or result in paradoxical effects in some individuals with ASD.

Comment [A4]: Discussion Point: Clarify and/or need evidence to support this statement.

Alternatives to pharmacological treatments should also continue to be explored, such as continued study on repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) as a possible intervention. Likewise, emphasis on development of behavioral treatments should continue. As the effects of behavioral interventions become more apparent, better information regarding their “active ingredients,” depth and durability are needed. The longevity of treatment effects in authentic environments must also be established.

Additionally, outcome measures that can monitor changes in brain connectivity and/or activity and correlate those changes with behavioral and social therapies should be developed. For example, more research could be conducted using electroencephalography (EEG) as a tool to measure the physiological effects of a variety of treatments, including behavioral, pharmacological, and rTMS. These measures could then be compared to concurrent changes in behavior. Likewise, standardized measures of sensory processing should be established in order to demonstrate changes in measures with occupational therapy-based interventions.

Clinically, determination of the cohorts who are most responsive to social and behavioral interventions is needed, as well as trying to better understand the mechanisms behind those benefits. As with pharmacological interventions, more data are needed for behavioral treatments regarding for whom treatments work best and the mechanisms behind those benefits. A number of cognitive, educational and computer-based programs are used to remediate learning deficits in ASD individuals in an effort to help them meet their cognitive and learning potential. These should be compared in well-characterized ASD cohorts to determine which are most

effective. Additionally, effectiveness studies for relatively inexpensive community-based interventions (e.g., exercise, yoga, acupuncture, mindfulness) should also be conducted.

Interventions that are commonly used yet have little evidence need to be rigorously evaluated so they can be disregarded if found ineffective. Self-advocates have raised concerns about the potential iatrogenic effects of interventions. This applies not only to pharmacological treatments, including the two medications currently FDA-approved to treat irritability, but to behavioral interventions. While many behavioral interventions report success upon the decrease of a targeted behavior, some have raised a concern about the net, not gross, effects of a targeted intervention, including the unintentional development of alternate problem behaviors and effects on stress levels, unique talents, and quality of life. Measures studying these effects need to be developed. An important goal for any intervention is to help individuals with ASD understand and utilize their strengths, and help them channel their interests towards useful activities. An understudied phenomenon is that being placed in a group of autistic peers appears to increase friendships amongst people with ASD, regardless of the particular group purpose or intervention style.

Comment [A5]: Discussion Point: This is based on unpublished research.

Word count: 1602

References:

- Adkins DE, Aberg K, McClay JL, Bukszár J, Zhao Z, Jia P, Stroup TS, Perkins D, McEvoy JP, Lieberman JA, Sullivan PF, van den Oord EJ. Genomewide pharmacogenomic study of metabolic side effects to antipsychotic drugs. *Mol Psychiatry*. 2011 Mar;16(3):321-32.
- Antshel KM, Polacek C, McMahon M, Dygert K, Spenceley L, Dygert L, Miller L, Faisal F. Comorbid ADHD and anxiety affect social skills group intervention treatment efficacy in children with autism spectrum disorders. *J Dev Behav Pediatr*. 2011 Jul-Aug;32(6):439-46.
- Berry-Kravis EM, Hessl D, Rathmell B, et al. Effects of STX209 (Arbaclofen) on Neurobehavioral Function in Children and Adults with Fragile X Syndrome: A Randomized, Controlled, Phase 2 Trial. *Sci Transl Med*. 2012 19; 4(152): 152ra127.
- Buckley AW, Sassower K, Rodriguez AJ, Jennison K, Wingert K, Buckley J, Thurm A, Sato S, Swedo S. An open label trial of donepezil for enhancement of rapid eye movement sleep in young children with autism spectrum disorders. *J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol*. 2011 Aug;21(4):353-7.
- Carter AS, Messinger DS, Stone WL, Celimli S, Nahmias AS, Yoder P. A randomized controlled trial of Hanen's 'More Than Words' in toddlers with early autism symptoms. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. 2011 Jul;52(7):741-52.
- Correia CT, Almeida JP, Santos PE, Sequeira AF, Marques CE, Miguel TS, Abreu RL, Oliveira GG, Vicente AM. Pharmacogenetics of risperidone therapy in autism: association analysis of eight candidate genes with drug efficacy and adverse drug reactions. *Pharmacogenomics J*. 2010 Oct;10(5):418-30. [PMID: 19997080]
- Cortesi F, Giannotti F, Sebastiani T, Panunzi S, Valente D. Controlled-release melatonin, singly and combined with cognitive behavioural therapy, for persistent insomnia in children with autism spectrum disorders: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. *J Sleep Res*. 2012. [Epub ahead of print] [PMID: 22616853]
- Dawson G, Jones EJ, Merkle K, Venema K, Lowy R, Faja S, Kamara D, Murias M, Greenon J, Winter J, Smith M, Rogers SJ, Webb SJ. Early behavioral intervention is associated with normalized brain activity in young children with autism. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2012 Nov;51(11):1150-9. [PMID: 23101741]
- Dove D, Warren Z, McPheeters ML, Taylor JL, Sathe NA, Veenstra-Vanderweele J. Medications for adolescents and young adults with autism spectrum disorders: a systematic review. *Pediatrics*. 2012; 130(4): 717-26.

- Hardan AY, Fung LK, Libove RA, et al. A randomized controlled pilot trial of oral N-acetylcysteine in children with autism. *Biol Psychiatry*. 2012 1 ;71(11): 956-61.
- Hollander E, Soorya L, Chaplin W, Anagnostou E, Taylor BP, Ferretti CJ, Wasserman S, Swanson E, Settiani C. A double-blind placebo-controlled trial of fluoxetine for repetitive behaviors and global severity in adult autism spectrum disorders. *Am J Psychiatry*. 2012 Mar;169(3):292-9. *Am J Psychiatry*. 2012 May;169(5):540.
- Kaale A, Smith L, Sponheim E. A randomized controlled trial of preschool-based joint attention intervention for children with autism. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. 2012 Jan;53(1):97-105.
- Kasari C, Gulsrud A, Freeman S, Paparella T, Hellemann G. Longitudinal follow-up of children with autism receiving targeted interventions on joint attention and play. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2012;51(5):487-95.
- Kasari C, Rotheram-Fuller E, Locke J, Gulsrud A. Making the connection: randomized controlled trial of social skills at school for children with autism spectrum disorders. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. 2012 Apr;53(4):431-9.
- Larsson PG, Bakke KA, Bjørnæs H, Heminghyt E, Rytter E, Brager-Larsen L, Eriksson AS. The effect of levetiracetam on focal nocturnal epileptiform activity during sleep--a placebo-controlled double-blind cross-over study. *Epilepsy Behav*. 2012 May;24(1):44-8. Epub 2012 Apr 10
- Lawton, K and Kasari, C. Teacher-implemented joint attention intervention: Pilot randomized controlled study for preschoolers with autism. *J Consult Clin Psychol*. 2012. 80: 687-94.
- Lounds Taylor J, McPheeters M, Sathe N A, Dove, D, Veenstra-VanderWeele J, Warren Z. A Systematic Review of Vocational Interventions for Young Adults With Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Pediatrics*. 2012; 130(3): 531-538.
- Malow B, Adkins KW, McGrew SG, Wang L, Goldman SE, Fawkes D, Burnette C. Melatonin for sleep in children with autism: a controlled trial examining dose, tolerability, and outcomes. *J Autism Dev Disord*. 2012 Aug;42(8):1729-37
- National Research Council of the National Academies. *Toward Precision Medicine: Building a Knowledge Network for Biomedical Research and a New Taxonomy of Disease*. National Academies Press, 2011.
- Perrin, J.M. and Coury, D.L. Editors (2012) *Improving health care for children and youth with autism and other neurodevelopmental disorders*. *Pediatrics: Supplement*. 130: s57-201.
- Reaven J, Blakeley-Smith A, Culhane-Shelburne K, Hepburn S. Group cognitive behavior therapy for children with high-functioning autism spectrum disorders and anxiety: a randomized trial. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. 2012; 53(4): 410-9.
- Rogers SJ, Estes A, Lord C, Vismara L, Winter J, Fitzpatrick A, Guo M, Dawson G. Effects of a Brief Early Start Denver Model (ESDM)-Based Parent Intervention on Toddlers at Risk for Autism Spectrum Disorders: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2012 Oct;51(10):1052-65
- Rosenblatt LE, Gorantla S, Torres JA, Yarmush RS, Rao S, Park ER, Denninger JW, Benson H, Fricchione GL, Bernstein B, Levine JB. Relaxation response-based yoga improves functioning in young children with autism: a pilot study. *J Altern Complement Med*. 2011 Nov;17(11):1029-35. [PMID: 21992466]
- Scahill L, McDougle CJ, Aman MG, Johnson C, Handen B, Bearss K, Dziura J, Butter E, Swiezy NG, Arnold LE, Stigler KA, Sukhodolsky DD, Lecavalier L, Pozdol SL, Nikolov R, Hollway JA, Korzekwa P, Gavaletz A, Kohn AE, Koenig K, Grinnon S, Mulick JA, Yu S, Vitiello B; Research Units on Pediatric Psychopharmacology Autism Network. Effects of risperidone and parent training on adaptive functioning in children with pervasive developmental disorders and serious behavioral problems. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2012 Feb;51(2):136-46. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2011.11.010. Epub 2011 Dec 23.
- Scahill L, McCracken JT, Bearss K, Robinson F, Hollander E, King B, Bregman J, Sikich L, Dukes K, Sullivan L, Anagnostou E, Donnelly C, Kim YS, Ritz L, Hirtz D, Wagner A. Design and subject characteristics in the federally-funded citalopram trial in children with pervasive developmental disorders. *J Autism Dev Disord*. 2012 Mar;42(3):432-40
- Sokhadze EM, Baruth JM, Sears L, Sokhadze GE, El-Baz AS, Casanova MF Prefrontal neuromodulation using rTMS improves error monitoring and correction function in autism. *Appl Psychophysiol Biofeedback*. 2012 Jun;37(2):91-102
- Sowa, M., & Meulenbroek, R. (2012). Effects of physical exercise on Autism Spectrum Disorders: A meta-analysis. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders* 6 (46–57).

- Spek AA, van Ham NC, Nyklíček I. Mindfulness-based therapy in adults with an autism spectrum disorder: A randomized controlled trial. *Res Dev Disabil.* 2012 Sep 7;34(1):246-253. [Epub ahead of print]
- Taylor JL, McPheeters ML, Sathe NA, Dove D, Veenstra-Vanderweele J, Warren Z. A systematic review of vocational interventions for young adults with autism spectrum disorders. *Pediatrics.* 2012; 130(3): 531-8.